

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active.

# Protein Expression and Purification 90 (2013) 104-116

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

# Protein Expression and Purification

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yprep



# Use of baculovirus expression system for generation of virus-like particles: Successes and challenges



# Fuxiao Liu<sup>a,b</sup>, Xiaodong Wu<sup>a</sup>, Lin Li<sup>a</sup>, Zengshan Liu<sup>b,\*</sup>, Zhiliang Wang<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> National Research Center for Exotic Animal Diseases, China Animal Health and Epidemiology Center, No. 369, Nanjing Road, Qingdao, Shandong 266032, China <sup>b</sup> Key Laboratory of Zoonosis Research, Ministry of Education, College of Veterinary Medicine, Jilin University, No. 5333, Xi'an Road, Changchun, Jilin 130062, China

# ARTICLE INFO

Review

Article history: Received 26 March 2013 and in revised form 13 May 2013 Available online 3 June 2013

Keywords: Baculovirus expression system Virus-like particle Baculovirus Insect cells Post-translational modification Bioprocess

# ABSTRACT

The baculovirus expression system (BES) has been one of the versatile platforms for the production of recombinant proteins requiring multiple post-translational modifications, such as folding, oligomerization, phosphorylation, glycosylation, acylation, disulfide bond formation and proteolytic cleavage. Advances in recombinant DNA technology have facilitated application of the BES, and made it possible to express multiple proteins simultaneously in a single infection and to produce multimeric proteins sharing functional similarity with their natural analogs. Therefore, the BES has been used for the production of recombinant proteins and the construction of virus-like particles (VLPs), as well as for the development of subunit vaccines, including VLP-based vaccines. The VLP, which consists of one or more structural proteins but no viral genome, resembles the authentic virion but cannot replicate in cells. The high-quality recombinant protein expression and post-translational modifications obtained with the BES, along with its capacity to produce multiple proteins, imply that it is ideally suited to VLP production. In this article, we critically review the pros and cons of using the BES as a platform to produce both enveloped and non-enveloped VLPs.

© 2013 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

# Contents

Introduction.	105
BES as a platform for protein expression	105
Generation of VLPs using BES.	105
Enveloped VLPs	105
Non-enveloped VLPs	105
Major properties of BES: promoting generation of VLPs	106
Polh and p10 promoters	106
Monocistronic and polycistronic structures	108
Genetic modification of baculoviruses	108
Protein folding post translation	109
Glycosylation of recombinant proteins	109
Disulfide bond formation post translation	110
Proteolytic processing post translation	110
Host factors	111
Bioprocess considerations for production of VLPs	112
Co-expression and co-infection	112
Optimizing production of VLPs by mathematical models	112
Purification of VLPs	112
Conclusions	113
Acknowledgments	113
References	113

*E-mail addresses:* zsliu1959@163.com (Z. Liu), wangzhiliang@cahec.cn (Z. Wang).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding authors. Fax: +86 532 87839922 (Z. Wang).

<sup>1046-5928/\$ -</sup> see front matter  $\circledast$  2013 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pep.2013.05.009

# Introduction

Since 1983, when the baculovirus expression system  $(BES)^1$  was first used to express human beta interferon in insect cells [1], the BES has become a versatile and robust eukaryotic expression system for foreign protein expression. Two prototype members of the genus Alphabaculovirus [2] are broadly utilized in the BES as vectors to produce heterologous proteins in insect cells or silkworm larvae: namely Autographa californica multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus (AcMNPV) and to a lesser extent *Bombyx mori* nucleopolyhedrovirus (BmNPV). Either can express foreign genes under the control of highly expressed very late promoters, including polyhedrin (polh) and 10-kDa fibrous polypeptide (p10) promoters. The most commonly used lepidopteran insect cell lines are derived from Spodoptera frugiperda (Sf9 and Sf21) and Trichoplusia ni (Tn5, commercially known as High Five™), which grow optimally at 27 °C and do not require CO<sub>2</sub>, making scale up of protein production feasible for most laboratories. Baculovirus expression of heterologous genes permits multiple post-translational modifications, like folding, oligomerization, phosphorylation, glycosylation, acylation, disulfide bond formation, proteolytic cleavage and so on, which are similar or identical to those occurring in mammalian cells. These advantages over prokaryotic expression systems make it possible to express multiple proteins simultaneously in a single infection and to obtain multimeric proteins sharing functional similarity with their natural analogs. Thus, the BES has been broadly used for the production of heterologous proteins and even the generation of virus-like particles (VLP) in laboratories [3,4], as well as for the development of subunit vaccines, including VLP-based vaccines, in the vaccine industry [5,6].

VLPs are composed of viral capsid proteins that self-assemble into particles closely resembling the natural virions from which they derive. VLPs are replication as well as infection incompetent, due to the absence of any infectious genetic material [7]. A close resemblance to native viruses in molecular scaffolds enables VLPs to elicit both humoral and cellular immune responses even without adjuvant. VLPs have been constructed through co-expression and then self-assembly of their components in Escherichia coli (E. coli), yeasts, mammalian cells and insect cells. As a powerful eukaryotic expression system post-translationally modifying and processing the foreign proteins expressed in vitro or in vivo, the BES plays a critical role in self-assembly and release of VLPs. However, many studies have demonstrated the inability of lepidopteran cells to synthesize mammalian-type N-glycans [8], which was a limitation of the conventional BES [9]. In addition, the stoichiometry of VLP components, the self-assembly efficiency of structural proteins, and the budding process of enveloped VLPs are determined by the BES. In this article, we critically reviewed the pros and cons of using the BES to construct both enveloped and non-enveloped VLPs.

#### BES as a platform for protein expression

Several commercially available BES kits (*e.g.*, BaculoGold<sup>™</sup>, BD Biosences; *Flash*BAC, Oxford Expression Technologies; BacPAK<sup>™</sup>, Clontech) use the conventional method of homologous recombination *in vitro*. However, the final virus stock unavoidably contains a mixture of parental and recombinant viruses, so a plaque-assay is required to purify the recombinant baculovirus [10]. An alternative approach has been developed [11] to circumvent this problem by

generating a recombinant baculovirus using site-specific transposition with Tn7 to insert foreign genes into bacmid (baculovirus plasmid) propagated in *E. coli*. Based on the principle of site-specific transposition, a rapid and efficient BES (Bac-to-Bac<sup>®</sup>, Life Technologies) that can be used as an alternative way to generate recombinant baculoviruses was developed and is now widely used as another commercial BES. Additionally, a modified baculovirus vector harboring a mammalian promoter, known as BacMam vector, has been turned into a transient expression vector for gene delivery and high-level screening in mammalian cells [12]. The BacMam system combines the advantages of viral transient expression, ease of generation and a broad cell tropism, enabling rapid, efficient and flexible gene over-expression experiments to

be performed in various mammalian cells [13].

To date, the BES has been used to manufacture several biologicals, including the interferon [14], antigen [15] and vaccine [16]. One was GlaxoSmithKline's Cervarix<sup>™</sup> (GSK, Rixensart, Belgium), a VLP-based bivalent human papillomavirus vaccine against cervical cancer, which was approved for human use in the USA in 2009 [17]. In the veterinary field, Porcilis<sup>®</sup> Pesti (Intervet) and Bayovac<sup>®</sup> CSF E2 (Bayer) are the first two licensed subunit vaccines produced by the BES. Either consists of an envelope glycoprotein of the classical swine fever virus as the antigen. In addition, FluBlok<sup>®</sup>, a seasonal influenza subunit vaccine for adults, was approved by the FDA in January, 2013. It is tailored annually to provide protection against the latest strains of influenza by containing the corresponding hemagglutinin (HA) antigens produced by the BES [18,19].

#### **Generation of VLPs using BES**

Many viral structural proteins have an intrinsic ability to spontaneously self-assemble into VLPs (Table 1) when expressed in insect cells by co-expression or co-infection with recombinant baculoviruses. Like parental viruses, many VLPs generated by the BES are enveloped, meaning that the capsids are coated with a lipid membrane known as the envelope, which is derived from the plasma membrane of insect cells. The other VLPs, known as the nonenveloped VLPs, contain no lipid membrane and are formed by only one or more major structural proteins. Owing to the difference in structures, there are differences in the assembly mechanisms for enveloped and non-enveloped VLPs.

#### Enveloped VLPs

In general, self-assembly of structural proteins into enveloped VLPs (Fig. 1A) includes two steps, namely capsid (or matrix) formation and then membrane enclosure for further budding (Fig. 2). Due to intrinsic properties of the lipid membrane and surface glycoprotein, the generation of enveloped VLPs in insect cells is more complicated than that of non-enveloped VLPs. However, efficient budding of enveloped VLPs from insect cells has been reported from time to time [30,31,36,38,39,45,46]. For example, using a quadruple baculovirus recombinant, Latham and Galarza (2001) initially showed that co-expression of four structural proteins of influenza virus, the HA, neuraminidase (NA), matrix protein M1 and M2 ion channel protein, was sufficient for the self-assembly and release of VLPs from surface of insect cells. Furthermore, the VLPs closely resembled the authentic virions in size, morphology, and in the fine structure of the surface spikes [3].

## Non-enveloped VLPs

Compared with the enveloped VLPs, the generation of non-enveloped VLPs with single capsid (Fig. 1B) should be less

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Baculovirus expression system (BES); virus-like particles (VLP); Autographa californica multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus (AcMNPV); Bombyx mori nucleopolyhedrovirus (BmNPV); polyhedrin (polh); hemagglutinin (HA); neuraminidase (NA); endo-plasmic reticulum (ER); European Molecular Biology Laboratory (EMBL); multiplicities of infection (MOI); Flock House nodavirus (FHV); time of infection (TOI); peste des petits ruminants virus (PPRV)

#### Table 1

Generation of VLPs using baculovirus expression system.

Virus	Classification of VLP	Cells	Recombinant proteins	Expression strategies	Refs.
Feline leukaemia virus	Enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	Gp85 and gag	Co-infection	[20]
Norwalk virus	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	Capsid protein	Single infection	[21]
Porcine parvovirus	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	VP2	Single infection	[22]
Bluetongue virus	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf21 cells	VP2, VP6, VP7 and NS1	Co-expression	[23]
Poliovirus	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf21 cells	VP0, VP3 and VP1	Co-infection	[24]
Human papillomavirus	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	L1 and L2	Co-expression	[25]
herpes simplex virus	Non-enveloped capsid	Sf21 cells	VP23, VP5, VP22a, VP21&VP24, VP26 and VP19C	Co-infection	[26]
Rotavirus	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	VP2, VP6, VP7 and VP4	Co-infection	[27]
Porcine parvovirus (LCMV)*	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	VP2 containing LCMV epitope	Single infection	[28]
African horse sickness virus	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	VP3 and VP4	Co-infection	[29]
Human immunodeficiency virus	Enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	Gag and gp120	Co-expression	[30]
Human severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus	Enveloped VLP	Sf21 cells	Spike, membrane and envelope proteins	Co-infection	[31]
Human astrovirus	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	Complete ORF2	Single infection	[32]
Enterovirus-71	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	P1 and 3CD	Co-expression or co- infection	[33]
Feline calicivirus	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	Capsid	Single infection	[34]
Simian virus 40	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	VP1, VP2 and VP3	Single infection or co- infection	[35]
Rift Valley fever virus	Enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	Gn, Gc and N	Co-expression	[36]
Porcine circovirus	Non-enveloped VLP	Tn cells	VP2	Single infection	[37]
Avian influenza virus	Enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	HA, NA and M1	Co-expression	[38]
Ebola virus	Enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	VP40 and GP	Co-infection	[39]
Encephalomyocarditis virus	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	P1-2A-3C	Single infection	[40]
Rous sarcoma virus	Enveloped VLP	Tn cells and SL	Gag	Single infection	[41]
Japanese encephalitis virus	Enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	prM and gE	Co-infection	[42]
Coxsackievirus A16	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	P1 and 3CD	Co-expression	[43]
Foot-and-mouth disease virus	Non-enveloped VLP	Sf9 cells	P1–2A-3C	Single infection	[44]
Chikungunya virus	Enveloped VLP	Sf21 cells	Structural polyprotein	Single infection	[45]

\* Chimeric VLP; Sf: Spodoptera frugiperda; Tn: Trichoplusia ni; LCMV: lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus; ORF: open reading frame; SL: silkworm larvae; VLP: virus-like particle.

challenging, as most of these VLPs are composed of numerous copies of the same protein subunit and have icosahedral symmetry. Owing to the uncomplicated structures of parental viruses, expression of one capsid protein alone in insect cells is enough to cause the formation of VLPs (Fig. 2) that are morphologically and antigenically similar to native viruses [21,34,47,48]. Papillomavirus VLPs, produced by over-expression of the major capsid L1 protein in insect cells, represent the most studied example as a prophylactic vaccine among non-enveloped VLPs [6,7].

The other non-enveloped VLP, multilayered VLP (Fig. 1C), relies on the simultaneous expression of diverse structural proteins within one insect cell, so several technical problems seem to affect their generation, in comparison with those formed by only one capsid protein. Fortunately, baculovirus multiple gene transfer vectors pAcAB3 and pAcAB4 have been commercialized to facilitate the insertion of three or four foreign genes respectively into one AcMNPV genome by a single co-transfection experiment [23]. Complex self-assembly of multilayered VLPs in insect cells has been efficiently achieved for members of the family *Reoviridae*, such as bluetongue [49–51], African horse sickness [29] and rotavirus [27,52] VLPs.

#### Major properties of BES: promoting generation of VLPs

Over the past 20 years, the BES has become the most widely used system for the production of VLPs. It has the capacity to produce recombinant proteins at a high level and further to perform certain post-translational modifications, thus to some extent retaining the biological activity of original proteins. Consequently, it is natural to consider this system used for the production of VLPs. However, some essential properties of the BES, such as unspecific proteolysis, on the contrary, impede the production of VLPs. In this section, we discussed the pros and cons of such a system used to generate a variety of VLPs.

# Polh and p10 promoters

Expression of the polh and p10 genes is regulated by the corresponding strong promoters, namely the polh and the p10 promoters. In comparison with other baculoviral promoters, both very late promoters provide abundant transcription of very late genes. The polyhedrin transcript represented approximately one-quarter of the viral polyadenylic acid-containing RNAs at 27 h post infection [53], thereby ensuring the production of the corresponding proteins in large amounts in the very late phase of infection. Furthermore, both the polh [54] and the p10 [55] genes are dispensable for the life cycle of baculoviruses. Thus, replacement of either of the gene coding sequences with that of another foreign gene in a recombinant baculovirus usually enables extensive expression of the heterologous protein, even more than 50% of the total protein in insect cells [56]. In general, the p10 promoter is more active at an earlier time post infection and reaches a lower maximum level than the polh promoter [57]. Under non-optimal conditions, the p10 promoter, however, would yield a higher level of expression than the polh promoter-driven expression [58,59].

The strong polh promoter probably overwhelms the processing capacity of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) in insect cells, and in contrast, the weaker p10 promoter allows production of a biologically active glycoprotein [60]. Therefore, it would be possible to infer an improvement in complex glycosylation of foreign proteins required for the generation of VLPs, if the p10 promoter was used instead of the polh promoter. Genetic engineering of baculovirus



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of enveloped VLP (A), structurally simple VLP (B) and multilayered VLP (C).

facilitates both the insertion of foreign genes into these downstream promoter regions and the subsequent high level expression as well as self-assembly of heterologous proteins. A baculovirus with a certain gene present behind both promoters produced relatively more recombinant protein in host cells than those viruses driven with the polh or p10 promoters alone [59]. Nevertheless, the two promoters are activated at very late time post infection when the host machinery for post-translational modifications is



**Fig. 2.** Main stages of enveloped and non-enveloped VLPs formations in insect cell. 1 and 2, recombinant baculoviruses; 3, baculoviral genome; 4, 5 and 6, mRNAs; 7, capsid or matrix protein; 8, membrane protein; 9, capsid protein; 10, enveloped VLP; 11, non-enveloped VLP; ER, endoplasmic reticulum. I and II, baculoviral genomes gain access to the nucleus. III and IV, full-length mRNAs are exported from the nucleus. V, VI and VII, the mRNAs are translated into structural proteins. VIII, matrix protein subunits are transported inside the plasma membrane. IX and X, the membrane proteins are transported through the Golgi apparatus onto the plasma membrane. XI, capsid protein subunits are assembled into non-enveloped VLPs. XII, an enveloped VLP buds from the surface of cell.



**Fig. 3.** Main stages of co-expression (I) and co-infection (II) to generate influenza VLP in insect cell. III, baculoviral genome gains access to the nucleus. IV, full-length mRNAs are exported from the nucleus. V, the mRNAs are translated into structural proteins of influenza virus. VI and VII, the HA and NA are transported through the Golgi apparatus onto the plasma membrane. VIII, the M1 is transported inside the plasma membrane. IX, a mature VLP buds from the surface of cell. ER, endoplasmic reticulum; HA, hemagglutinin; M1, matrix 1 protein; NA, neuraminidase; polh, polyhedron promoter; p10, p10 promoter.

no longer working properly due to gradual liquefaction of insect cells [61,62], so the insect cells may not be able to achieve selfassembly of VLPs exactly. This may be a problem if the formation of VLPs depends on proper post-translational modifications.

# Monocistronic and polycistronic structures

VLPs constructed by the BES often consist of more than one protein, which can be expressed either with multiple baculoviruses each carrying a single foreign gene (monocistronic BES), or with a single baculovirus carrying multiple foreign genes (polycistronic BES) [63]. Based on both systems, two viral expression strategies to generate complex VLPs are feasible: infection with multiple monocistronic baculoviruses (co-infection) and infection with a single polycistronic baculovirus (co-expression) (Fig. 3). In contrast, structurally simple VLPs, such as circovirus [37] and parvovirus [22] VLPs, require only a single infection with monocistronic baculoviruses.

To date, a variety of BES kits based on mono-, bi-, tri- and quadcistronic expression vectors have been commercially available around the world, including the Invitrogen<sup>™</sup> Bac-to-Bac<sup>®</sup> system, the BD BaculoGold<sup>™</sup> system and the Oxford Expression Technologies flashBAC<sup>™</sup> system, facilitating the generation of numerous VLPs. As described previously, the quadruple (pAcAB4) expression vector utilizing the polh and the p10 promoters has been constructed and commercialized, where each pair of different promoters was juxtaposed in identical orientation and the same promoters were segregated in opposite orientation. Using the quadruple vector, bluetongue virus double shelled VLPs consisting of four proteins were originally synthesized [23]. However, competition presumably occurs among promoters when different heterologous proteins are simultaneously co-expressed by one recombinant baculovirus in the same cells [64], thus inhibiting, to some extent, the protein expression and VLP production. Additionally, a novel and versatile BES, MultiBac, has been developed to allow simultaneous expression of multiple proteins in a single cell, which could be used to produce protein complexes and to recapitulate metabolic pathways [65–69]. The MultiBac system has been set up as an open-access platform technology at the European Molecular Biology Laboratory (EMBL) in Grenoble, France [66].

#### Genetic modification of baculoviruses

Baculovirus cathepsin (cath), the papain-like cysteine protease, if deleted, has no significant effect on viral growth or polyhedron production in insect cells, indicating that the *cath* is not essential for viral replication in vitro [70]. The other important enzyme, chitinase (chiA), in conjunction with the cath, promotes liquefaction of the host in the latter stages of infection and then results in release of viruses to infect more cells [61]. Like the cath, the chiA is dispensable for virus propagation in cell culture. Genetic modification based on chiA and/or cath deletions hampered the liquefaction of hosts to some extent, and thereby improved the expression of complex proteins, which has been confirmed by many research groups [71-74]. For example, Hitchman et al. (2010) constructed a baculovirus mutant devoid of both the chiA and the *cath* greatly enhancing levels of protein production for secreted, nuclear and cytoplasmic proteins [71,72]. However, it is not clear yet whether baculovirus mutants are used to generate envelope VLPs at a higher level than those produced by the conventional BES.

#### Protein folding post translation

Structurally complicated VLPs often are composed of different subunits depending on each other for correct folding. In yeasts and mammalian cells, molecular mechanisms of protein folding have been identified in the ER [75], whereas in insects this issue has remained underexplored. Although heterologous protein folding in insect cells is more similar to mammalian cells than bacteria and yeasts, it is not always identical [76] and, for construction of VLPs, this may be critical. Enveloped VLPs generally contain membrane proteins, whereas expression of membrane-active proteins in infected insect cells is possibly hindered by the misfolding of polypeptides, resulting in the accumulation and/or precipitation of non-functional protein in or at the ER [77].

This problem has been addressed by co-expressing chaperones or foldases that enabled correct folding and post-translational processing, and prevented the accumulation of non-functional proteins [77-83]. Two main classes of chaperones investigated for use in the BES fall into two groups, namely those located in the ER and those in the cytosol. Calnexin, calreticulin and binding immunoglobulin protein are chaperones located in the ER where their expression has desirable effects on heterologous protein assembly; in the cytosol, Hsp70 has proven to be effective in increasing production efficiency by reducing the formation of aggregates, which would have otherwise been degraded [63]. In addition to these chaperones, a stably transformed insect cell line has been developed by engineering the folding pathway of insect cells, showing improved folding of a recombinant membrane protein. NinaA (neither inactivation nor afterpotential A) has been found to function in the ER and to directly interact with rhodopsin 1 ensuring correct folding of this membrane-bound protein in the rhabdomere of the fly [84]. Lenhard and Reiländer (1997) transformed *Sf*9 cells with a gene encoding NinaA of *Drosophila melanogaster*, and demonstrated that the new insect cell line produced more functional, plasma membrane-localized human dopamine transporter than the old one [77]. The co-expression of chaperones and foldases may complement other approaches, such as the development of alternative insect cell lines to optimize the BES for generating high yields of VLPs.

#### Glycosylation of recombinant proteins

Baculovirus-mediated expression in insect cells has become well-established for the production of recombinant glycoproteins. Since several glycoproteins could readily be produced in many insect cell lines compared with mammalian cells [85], these insect cell lines were widely employed for glycoprotein expression [86-88]. Nevertheless, the conventional BES may not be the best tool for producing glycoproteins to generate complex VLPs especially for pharmaceutical purposes, as the insect cells-produced glycoproteins have clearly different N-glycans from those produced by mammalian cells [8,89,90]. Completion of N-glycans in insect and mammalian cells appears to follow a similar initial pathway but diverge at subsequent processing steps (Fig. 4) [89,91]. Due to insufficient expression of multiple processing enzymes responsible for generating complex-type structures and metabolic enzymes involved in generating appropriate sugar nucleotides, N-glycans from insect cells are not usually processed to terminally sialylated complex-type structures but are generally instead modified to paucimannose structure [92]. Few studies have reported the use of O-glycosylation sites in insect cells [93,94]. For instance, human interferon- $\alpha$  2 expressed in Sf9 insect cells was O-glycosylated at



**Fig. 4.** Protein N-glycosylation pathways in insect and mammalian cells. The processing pathways in both cells share a common intermediate but diverge at subsequent processing steps. I: α1,2-glucosidase I and α1,3-glucosidase II; II: α-mannosidase I (in rough endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus); III: N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase I; IV: α-mannosidase II and fucosyltransferase; V: N-acetylglucosaminidase; VI: N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase II; VII: N-acetylglactosyltransferase and sialyltransferase; VIII: galactosyltransferase and sialyltransferase. Adapted from [89] with permission from Elsevier (License No.: 3135990712390).

the same position as the natural one [95]. However, like the N-glycosylation, the O-glycosylation potential depends on culture medium and insect cell types. One of the most predominant and consistent changes in the O-glycosylation potential of insect cells would occur, if the culture medium is altered. Such a resulting change may be attributed to the alteration of the corresponding glycosyltransferase activities with variation of culture medium constituents [96].

In previous studies [97-100], methods involving genetic modification of either insect cells or baculoviruses have been used to address these problems. For the modification of cells, a new cell line could be developed by glycoengineering insect cell lines with mammalian genes encoding protein N-glycosylation functions under the transcriptional control of constitutive promoters [9]. Okada et al. (2010) prepared and characterized Sf21 cells by transfection with a rat cDNA for β1,4-N-acetylglucosa-minyltransferase III (GnT-III), showing that the GnT-III transfection has had the potential to be an effective approach in humanizing the N-glycosylation of lepidopteran insect cells [97]. For the modification of baculoviruses, a more sophisticated version of the MultiBac system was created by integrating sequences encoding Caenorhabditis elegans N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase II and bovine *β*1,4-galactosyltransferase I into the backbone of a baculovirus genome, resulting in a recombinant baculovirus designated as SweetBac. It has proven to be effective in the production of mammalianized glycoproteins in insect cells [98]. More recently, a new cell line, SfSWT-4, was generated by transforming Sf9 cells with six mammalian genes and has proven to produce sialylated glycoproteins when cultured with the sialic acid precursor, N-acetylmannosamine. Further, a daughter cell line, SfSWT-6, was isolated by super-transforming the SfSWT-4 with a human cytosine-5'-monophospho-sialic acid transporter gene. The resulting SfSWT-6 cells had higher levels of cell surface sialylation and also supported higher levels of recombinant glycoprotein sialylation, particularly when cultured with low concentrations of N-acetylmannosamine [101].

A number of viruses consist of envelope glycoproteins, which are the primary target of protective immunity. Glycosylation generally affects protein folding, localization, solubility and antigenicity [102]. For many viruses, mutation of special glycosylation sites may be highly detrimental to the antigenicity and immunogenicity of glycoproteins [103-107]. Therefore, the inability to produce glycoproteins with structurally authentic mammalian N- or O-glycans, to a certain extent, limits the application of the BES for production of VLP-based vaccines. Undoubtedly, the variation of antigenic properties of VLPs is an awfully serious issue for VLPbased vaccines. Interestingly, for influenza VLPs, "removal" of structurally nonessential glycans on VLPs surface glycoproteins may be a very effective and general approach for VLP-based vaccine design. Truncation of the N-glycan structures on HA can increase sialic acid binding affinities [104], and furthermore these structures are similar to those of insect cell-type N-glycans, which thereby can facilitate the uptake of influenza VLPs by antigen-presenting cells [108]. To date, enveloped influenza VLPs have been developed by biopharmaceutical companies and were demonstrated to induce protective immunity during preclinical and clinical studies [109-115].

#### Disulfide bond formation post translation

Disulfide bonds can be employed in a variety of viruses, such as hepatitis B virus [116], hepatitis C virus [117] and papillomavirus [118], to covalently cross-link the monomers of their capsids, contributing to virion stability. Accordingly, the impact of disulfide bonds on VLP stability varies with the location and the number of disulfide bonds, which can increase the thermal stability from just a few degree Celsius to over 50 °C [119]. The improved thermal

stability would be advantageous for most applications, especially based on VLP-based vaccines, which can be used in absence of a reliable cold chain in many tropical or subtropical regions.

Foreign proteins expressed in insect cells may form disulfide bonds each other, which are necessary for formation of VLPs. For example, VP60, a unique capsid component of the rabbit hemorrhagic disease virus (RHDV), can be expressed in insect cells and assemble without the need of any other viral component to form VLPs, further structurally and immunologically indistinguishable from the RHDVs. More importantly, a 120 kDa protein, the possible dimer of VP60 formed via disulfide bridging, is revealed in VLP and RHDV samples when they are boiled and dissociated under nonreducing conditions [120]. Likewise, Sapp et al. (1995) studied the disulphide bonding between L1 proteins and the association of L2 proteins with capsomers using VLPs obtained in insect cells by co-expression of the L1 and L2 proteins of human papillomavirus type 33, indicating that approximately 50% of the L1 protein molecules in VLPs formed disulphide bonded trimers [121].

Disulfide linkages between cysteine residues stabilize VLPs. Simian virus 40 VP1 protein when substituted at cysteine residues and then expressed in insect cells could assemble into VLPs containing intermolecular disulfide linkages, one of which was critical for maintenance of these VLPs at low calcium ion concentrations and contributed to their stabilization against dissociation to pentamers by preventing the release of calcium ion [122]. A disulfide-bonded dimer of the core protein of hepatitis C virus is also important for VLP production [123], which is achieved by expression of the core protein alone in insect cells [124]. All of these studies indicated that the BES was a preferred platform for the production of VLPs whose physical and chemical stabilities, at least in part, relied on the disulfide bonds.

## Proteolytic processing post translation

Several signal peptides deriving from vertebrate proteins can normally be cleaved in insect cells [125,126]. Proper cleavage of signal peptides in baculovirus-infected cells is inferred from the size of the product or its presence in the plasma membrane or extracellular culture fluid. Many studies have included amino acid sequence analysis of the N-terminus of the baculovirus-produced protein to confirm that the signal peptide cleavage site is identical to that observed in the original source [127]. However, other heterologous signal peptides may be inefficiently recognized by the protein translocation machinery in lepidopteran insect cells. The postulate has been verified by a previous study [128], revealing that secretion of plant propapain expressed in insect cells was improved by replacement of its native signal peptide with that from honeybee mellitin. Conversely, the other study has demonstrated that insect-derived signal peptides and/or prosequences could not always enhance the expression and/or secretion of foreign secretory pathway proteins in the BES, suggesting that the inability of insect cells to recognize the processing signals efficiently was probably not the major factor preventing high level production of foreign proteins [129].

Theoretically, the inefficient recognition of heterologous signal peptides could limit the amount of newly recombinant proteins that entered the secretory pathway [129], thereby impeding the generation of VLPs when composed of such proteins. After cleavage of the signal peptide, further proteolytic processing occurs predominantly at basic amino acid residues in insect cells [130] and possibly causes the degradation of foreign proteins that are already expressed, thereby hindering the formation of VLPs once again. This assumption was also confirmed by Cruz et al. (1999) who indicated that proteolytic degradation of Pr55gag particles (HIV-1 core-like particle) obviously occurred in the supernatant and inside insect cells when such cells were infected in the late exponential



**Fig. 5.** Production optimization and ultracentrifugation purification of VLPs according to the Poisson distribution and sucrose density gradient centrifugation, respectively. Probability of infection of a population according to the Poisson distribution (A). MOI, multiplicities of infection. Adapted from [52] with permission from Elsevier (License No.: 3136000207794). A discontinuous sucrose density gradient was prepared by layering successive decreasing sucrose densities solutions upon one another (B). The sample was obtained from culture supernatant of *Sf*9 cells, infected with recombinant baculoviruses expressing major structural proteins of a peste des petits ruminants virus (PPRV). Two white discs of protein formed between the 40% and 60% (black arrowed), as well as between the 20% and 40% (blue arrowed) sucrose layers after ultracentrifugation (C). Electron micrographs of ultracentrifugation-purified products collected from upper (D) and lower (E) protein layers. The PPRV VLPs and baculoviruses were indicated by the white and red arrows, respectively.

growth phase or with very low multiplicities of infection (MOI) [131].

Fortunately, for generation of influenza VLPs, proteolytic cleavage of the influenza HA expressed in insect cells are retarded and less efficient, and a substantial fraction of the HA can persist in uncleaved form [132]. Furthermore, the proper proteolytic processing does not impair its binding capacity but does membrane fusion [108,133]. Additionally, there were several other studies [134,135] independently to show that proteolytic processing contributed to generating VLPs in insect cells. Expression of immature precursor and subsequent proteolytic processing seem to be an effective strategy in formation of VLPs [136]. When the Flock House nodavirus (FHV) coat protein (CP) precursor (CP-alpha) alone was expressed in insect cells, virus-like precursor particle could be formed. It normally matured by proteolytic cleavage of protein alpha into polypeptide chains beta and gamma. The mature VLP was morphologically indistinguishable from authentic FHV. Alteration of proteolytic cleavage by mutations was responsible for defective VLPs, some of which possessed unusual structural features [135].

# Host factors

In addition to recombinant baculoviruses, insect cells are the other important player in defining the efficiency of VLP production. To date, hundreds of cell lines from lepidopteran insects have been established. Despite use of the same BES, differences between distinct insect cell lines may cause the differences in the efficiency of VLP production. For example, VLPs of influenza subtypes H1 [110], H3 [137], H5 [138] and H9 [139] have been produced by co-expression of structural proteins in insect cells, all of which were the Sf9 cells. Nevertheless, comparison of VLP production in terms of yield and guality between Sf9 and Tn5 lines revealed dramatic differences in baculovirus background as well as in yield and density of VLPs: the Tn5 cells produced homogenous VLPs carrying more HA than their Sf9-derived counterparts and resulted in a much lower virus background of the final VLP preparation [140]. Significantly, the commercially available VLP-based vaccine, Cervarix™, was also produced in the *Tn*5 cells [141]. Additionally, one research group demonstrated that the silkworm could produce higher levels of recombinant proteins than Sf9 cells, although the level of expression of soluble protein was higher in Sf9 cells than in the silkworm for all proteins except the membrane proteins [142]. These differences most likely reflect the great level of complexity of the biological systems in silkworms, compared with that in Sf9 cells. Despite the high-yield expression of recombinant proteins and especially membrane proteins in silkworms, it remains unclear whether the generation of VLPs in vivo is better than in vitro.

It is widely believed that synonymous codon usage of highly expressed genes is strongly biased and tends to match the more abundant tRNAs. Previous research [143,144] on codon usage in a variety of baculoviruses suggested that co-adaptation between baculovirus codon usage and tRNA availability in insect cells affected protein expression and VLP formation. Unfortunately, there are few reports of comparative VLP production in different insect cell lines, so we still do not know which factors are responsible for potential differences in the self-assembly mechanism of proteins in various insect cells.

# **Bioprocess considerations for production of VLPs**

Although the BES has been broadly adopted for the basic construction of VLPs in different laboratories, upstream and downstream processing issue should conform to industry or, at least, basic research standards. These parameters should include MOI, TOI (time of infection), agitation and aeration rates, and dissolved oxygen tension among others. In addition, different strategies for production and purification may affect the quality of VLPs to a great extent. In this section, we briefly discussed many bioprocess considerations for production of VLPs.

## Co-expression and co-infection

At first glance, choosing co-expression, co-infection or both (Table 1) for production of VLPs may appear arbitrary, whereas it probably has a serious impact on heterologous protein expression in insect cells. Co-expression using polycistronic baculoviruses has been explored as a strategy to overcome the limitations inherent in the co-infection, namely the uneven distribution of individual virus infections in insect cell populations [63]. As shown in the Fig. 3, co-expression ensures that every protein necessary for the formation of VLPs is produced in a single infected cell. This principle is significant for the formation of structurally complex VLPs in the perspective of biological stoichiometry. However, polycistronic baculoviruses are often unstable and therefore it is difficult to achieve equivalent expression of different genes in one insect cell. In contrast, one advantage of the co-infection over the co-expression is that monocistronic baculoviruses can be rapidly produced if new genotypes or serotypes appear, and only one or two baculoviruses need to be replaced, reducing additional validation requirements for the formation of VLPs [145].

Two different strategies were compared for the production of triple layered rotavirus VLPs composed of three structural proteins (VP2, VP6 and VP7): co-infection with three monocistronic baculoviruses and co-expression with one tricistronic baculovirus. The results showed that the co-expression was more efficient for production of such VLPs than the co-infection, which could be attributed to three major factors: (1) higher DNA replication rates presented by the tricistronic vector than the monocistronic vectors, (2) invariant mRNA stability for all three mRNAs, and (3) an excess of VP7 over VP6, both of which were produced by the coexpression, being more approximately equivalent to the VP7/VP6 stoichiometric ratio in the native virons [146]. Nonetheless, because the number of insect cells co-infected by all three baculoviruses could not be (or was not) measured, it was difficult to determine whether co-infection produced VLPs at a lower level. Nonetheless, another comparison [147] of the two strategies for the production of rotavirus VLPs indicated that virus DNA replication and transcription rates were appropriately 50% slower in the co-expression than in the co-infection experiments, which was contrary to the results of [146].

As for rotavirus VLPs, it is difficult to propose an ideal strategy for the production of influenza VLPs. In our laboratory, avian influenza VLPs have been constructed by co-expression of HA, NA and M1 in *Sf*9 cells, and we have demonstrated that the resulting VLPs could induce efficient immune responses in chicken (data not shown). In contrast, other studies reported successful production of influenza VLPs via the co-infection of a *Sf*9 cell culture with a combination of bi- and mono-cistronic [113] or mono- and mono-cistronic baculoviruses [148]. Unfortunately due to the absence of recombinant baculoviruses expressing HA, NA and M1, respectively, it is not possible to directly compare the two different production strategies for producing avian influenza VLPs.

#### Optimizing production of VLPs by mathematical models

To date, different mathematical models of baculovirus infection have been established to optimize protein expression or VLP construction in insect cells [149–153]. The MOI should be selected carefully in order to achieve optimal production of VLPs. The use of MOI to manipulate recombinant protein concentration and to optimize VLP formation relies on the probability of infection described by a Poisson distribution, which is a discrete probability distribution that expresses the probability of a given number of events occurring in a fixed interval of time. The Poisson distribution can be used to describe the probability (*P*) of one insect cell initially infected by *w* recombinant baculoviruses, and it has the following form [52]:

$$P(w, MOI) = \left[ \left( \frac{MOI^{w}}{w!} \right) e^{-MOI} \right]$$

The Poisson distribution is graphically represented in the Fig. 5A, where the probability of infection of a population is shown, indicating that the MOI determines the population fraction initially infected by w baculoviruses. The mathematical method describing the probability of virus infection was initially reported by Licari and Bailey (1992) who proposed an insect cell-baculovirus model that simulated cell population dynamics, extracellular virion densities, and heterologous product titers in reasonable agreement with experimental data for a wide range of MOI and TOI [149]. In the meantime, a predictive kinetics-based model was developed to describe the infection of insect cells with baculoviruses in a continuously operated reactor configuration [154], and subsequently, another model was established to predict the cell population dynamics, production of recombinant protein and infective extracellular virus progeny [155].

For production of VLPs, the MOI could be optimized by a probabilistic model developed by Tsao et al. as early as 1996. It has proven to correlate well with experimental results, thereby providing a better understanding of co-infections using the BES to produce parvovirus VLPs [156]. Even though the probabilistic model could be used for a steady-state co-infection analysis for prediction of VLP composition, there were no models of the VLP assembly process until a kinetic and statistical-thermodynamic model was established for baculovirus infection and VLP assembly in suspended insect cells. This mathematical model could be used to characterize baculovirus infection, protein synthesis and more importantly VLP assembly in insect cells. The complete model suggested that the formation of infectious bursal disease virus VLPs was thermodynamically favorable and predicted well the baculovirus infection in individual cells or in cell population as a whole [152]. This model can potentially be used to further describe and optimize VLP formation for other virus pathogens. Despite the establishments of mathematical models for baculovirus infection for a long time, the total number of reports on application of models to optimize the production of VLPs is relatively scarce over the past decade.

#### Purification of VLPs

Baculoviruses have shown adjuvant activity and if not removed or inactivated, would induce undesirable synergistic effects on the target VLP-based immunologic response [157]. Therefore, before VLPs can be used for scientific and especially medical purposes, they must be biophysically or biochemically separated from baculoviruses, which are co-produced as by-product in large amounts in insect cells and culture supernatant [158]. Undoubtedly, if VLPs share structural similarity with recombinant baculoviruses, the removal of baculoviruses to a great extent complicates the purification process.

Sucrose [31,159,41,160] or cesium chloride [24,33,161] gradient ultracentrifugation is generally considered to be chemically and physically appropriate for purification of VLPs, but this general approach is labor-intensive, time-consuming and scale-restricted [162], and can be associated with unexpected batch-to-batch variation. Although several reports have shown that gradient ultracentrifugation could be employed to purify rotavirus VLPs, it provided only low yield and failed to remove impurities from the final products [163]. Such a phenomenon of incomplete removal of impurities was also found in a recent experiment, whereby we tried to purify peste des petits ruminants virus (PPRV) VLPs from culture supernatant of Sf9 cells, which were infected with recombinant baculoviruses expressing PPRV major structural proteins. However, the purified products by sucrose density gradient centrifugation have proven to be mainly mixed with recombinant baculoviruses (Fig. 5D).

In addition to the method of gradient ultracentrifugation, many purification processes as stepwise unit operations were developed, based either on centrifugation, precipitation and ultrafiltration/ diafiltration [164], or on depth filtration, ultrafiltration and size exclusion chromatography [165]. More recently, an anion exchange-based purification method for norovirus VLPs was reported. This novel method consisted of polyethylene glycol precipitation followed by a single anion exchange chromatography step, which could be completed within one day to purify norovirus VLPs produced using insect cells. More significantly, high product purity could be obtained by the method and the final products still contained fully assembled, mono-dispersed VLPs [166].

Biophysical methods concerning electrostatic technology need to be exploited to allow separation of both particles, whereas this may be a challenge if VLPs is also enveloped. Alternatively, purified VLPs can be chemically inactivated to eliminate baculovirus infectivity [157], but this strategy may alter the antigenicity of VLPs. In addition to biophysical and biochemical separations, the use of *vp80* gene-deleted baculovirus vectors has been presented as a novel strategy that would greatly simplify the downstream processing of biopharmaceuticals produced in insect cells, as it could prevent the release of progeny baculoviruses into the culture supernatant [167]. While there have not yet been any reports of VLP production using such gene-deleted baculoviruses, this new strategy would hold promise for the industrial production of VLPs in the near future.

# Conclusions

In 1983, the first report on foreign protein expression in insect cells stimulated great interest in use of the BES for recombinant protein production. A large variety of VLPs have been produced using the BES, mainly owing to the high expression levels of foreign proteins and proper post-translational modifications in insect cells. The two VLP-based vaccines manufactured using the BES have been commercialized and proven to confer strong immune responses in vivo. Nonetheless, the differences in essential mechanisms between insect and mammalian cells, such as glycosylation and folding of heterologous proteins post translation, may hinder the formation of VLPs, especially structurally complicated VLPs. In addition, several manufacturing issues need to be addressed to achieve high-quality VLP upstream and downstream processing. The production of structurally complicated VLPs will benefit from improvements in downstream processes that could improve recovery yields without compromising VLP quality [168]. In conclusion, a long-term goal to accelerate the manufacturing capability of the BES for VLPs should be to revolutionize the conventional BES in order to improve protein quality (such as optimizing folding, enhancing glycosylation and preventing degradation) and to stabilize protein quantity over longer periods of time.

### Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the Special Fund for Agro-scientific Research in the Public Interest (No. 200903037) from the National Research Center for Exotic Animal Diseases, China Animal Health and Epidemiology Center, China. We frankly thank Jinshan Tan from Qingdao University Medical College, Qingdao, China, for his help and advice with electron microscopy. We also thank an enthusiastic e-friend from BBS. bbioo. com, China, for drawing the formula of Poisson distribution by an software.

### References

- G.E. Smith, M.D. Summers, M.J. Fraser, Production of human beta interferon in insect cells infected with a baculovirus expression vector, Mol. Cell. Biol. 3 (1983) 2156–2165.
- [2] S.A. Miele, M.J. Garavaglia, M.N. Belaich, P.D. Ghiringhelli, Baculovirus: molecular insights on their diversity and conservation, Int. J. Evol. Biol. 2011 (2011) 379424.
- [3] T. Latham, J.M. Galarza, Formation of wild-type and chimeric influenza viruslike particles following simultaneous expression of only four structural proteins, J. Virol. 75 (2001) 6154–6165.
- [4] L. Croizier, F.X. Jousset, J.C. Veyrunes, M. Lopez-Ferber, M. Bergoin, G. Croizier, Protein requirements for assembly of virus-like particles of Junonia coenia densovirus in insect cells, J. Gen. Virol. 81 (2000) 1605–1613.
- [5] T.J. Kemp, M. Safaeian, A. Hildesheim, Y. Pan, K.J. Penrose, C. Porras, J.T. Schiller, D.R. Lowy, R. Herrero, L.A. Pinto, Kinetic and HPV infection effects on cross-type neutralizing antibody and avidity responses induced by Cervarix((R)), Vaccine 31 (2012) 165–170.
- [6] J.W. Wang, R.B. Roden, Virus-like particles for the prevention of human papillomavirus-associated malignancies, Expert Rev. Vaccines 12 (2013) 129– 141.
- [7] L. Buonaguro, M. Tagliamonte, M.L. Tornesello, F.M. Buonaguro, Developments in virus-like particle-based vaccines for infectious diseases and cancer, Expert Rev. Vaccines 10 (2011) 1569–1583.
- [8] N. Tomiya, M.J. Betenbaugh, Y.C. Lee, Humanization of lepidopteran insectcell-produced glycoproteins, Acc. Chem. Res. 36 (2003) 613–620.
- [9] J.J. Aumiller, H. Mabashi-Asazuma, A. Hillar, X. Shi, D.L. Jarvis, A new glycoengineered insect cell line with an inducibly mammalianized protein N-glycosylation pathway, Glycobiology 22 (2012) 417–428.
- [10] R.D. Possee, R.B. Hitchman, K.S. Richards, S.G. Mann, E. Siaterli, C.P. Nixon, H. Irving, R. Assenberg, D. Alderton, R.J. Owens, L.A. King, Generation of baculovirus vectors for the high-throughput production of proteins in insect cells, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 101 (2008) 1115–1122.
- [11] V.A. Luckow, S.C. Lee, G.F. Barry, P.O. Olins, Efficient generation of infectious recombinant baculoviruses by site-specific transposon-mediated insertion of foreign genes into a baculovirus genome propagated in *Escherichia coli*, J. Virol. 67 (1993) 4566–4579.
- [12] M. Boudjelal, S.J. Mason, R.M. Katso, J.M. Fleming, J.H. Parham, J.P. Condreay, R.V. Merrihew, W.J. Cairns, The application of BacMam technology in nuclear receptor drug discovery, Biotechnol. Annu. Rev. 11 (2005) 101–125.
- [13] J.A. Fornwald, Q. Lu, D. Wang, R.S. Ames, Gene expression in mammalian cells using BacMam, a modified baculovirus system, Methods Mol. Biol. 388 (2007) 95–114.
- [14] W.S. Chen, O.B. Villaflores, T.R. Jinn, M.T. Chan, Y.C. Chang, T.Y. Wu, Expression of recombinant human interferon-gamma with antiviral activity in the bi-cistronic baculovirus-insect/larval system, Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 75 (2011) 1342–1348.
- [15] A. Yousefi, F. Fotouhi, S. Hosseinzadeh, M.T. Kheiri, B. Farahmand, S. Montazeri, F. Mousavi, Expression of antigenic determinants of the haemagglutinin large subunit of novel influenza virus in insect cells, Folia Biol. (Praha) 58 (2012) 151–156.
- [16] U. Ahrens, V. Kaden, C. Drexler, N. Visser, Efficacy of the classical swine fever (CSF) marker vaccine Porcilis Pesti in pregnant sows, Vet. Microbiol. 77 (2000) 83–97.
- [17] M.G. Aucoin, J.A. Mena, A.A. Kamen, Bioprocessing of baculovirus vectors: a review, Curr. Gene Ther. 10 (2010) 174–186.
- [18] J.J. Treanor, H. El Sahly, J. King, I. Graham, R. Izikson, R. Kohberger, P. Patriarca, M. Cox, Protective efficacy of a trivalent recombinant hemagglutinin protein vaccine (FluBlok(R)) against influenza in healthy adults: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial, Vaccine 29 (2011) 7733–7739.
- [19] R. Baxter, P.A. Patriarca, K. Ensor, R. Izikson, K.L. Goldenthal, M.M. Cox, Evaluation of the safety, reactogenicity and immunogenicity of FluBlok(R) trivalent recombinant baculovirus-expressed hemagglutinin influenza vaccine administered intramuscularly to healthy adults 50–64 years of age, Vaccine 29 (2011) 2272–2278.

- [20] D.R. Thomsen, A.L. Meyer, L.E. Post, Expression of feline leukaemia virus gp85 and gag proteins and assembly into virus-like particles using the baculovirus expression vector system, J. Gen. Virol. 73 (Pt 7) (1992) 1819–1824.
- [21] X. Jiang, M. Wang, D.Y. Graham, M.K. Estes, Expression, self-assembly, and antigenicity of the Norwalk virus capsid protein, J. Virol. 66 (1992) 6527– 6532.
- [22] C. Martinez, K. Dalsgaard, J.A. Lopez de Turiso, E. Cortes, C. Vela, J.I. Casal, Production of porcine parvovirus empty capsids with high immunogenic activity, Vaccine 10 (1992) 684–690.
- [23] A.S. Belyaev, P. Roy, Development of baculovirus triple and quadruple expression vectors: co-expression of three or four bluetongue virus proteins and the synthesis of bluetongue virus-like particles in insect cells, Nucleic Acids Res. 21 (1993) 1219–1223.
- [24] S. Brautigam, E. Snezhkov, D.H. Bishop, Formation of poliovirus-like particles by recombinant baculoviruses expressing the individual VP0, VP3, and VP1 proteins by comparison to particles derived from the expressed poliovirus polyprotein, Virology 192 (1993) 512–524.
- [25] R. Kirnbauer, J. Taub, H. Greenstone, R. Roden, M. Durst, L. Gissmann, D.R. Lowy, J.T. Schiller, Efficient self-assembly of human papillomavirus type 16 L1 and L1–L2 into virus-like particles, J. Virol. 67 (1993) 6929–6936.
- [26] J.D. Tatman, V.G. Preston, P. Nicholson, R.M. Elliott, F.J. Rixon, Assembly of herpes simplex virus type 1 capsids using a panel of recombinant baculoviruses, J. Gen. Virol. 75 (Pt 5) (1994) 1101–1113.
- [27] S.E. Crawford, M. Labbe, J. Cohen, M.H. Burroughs, Y.J. Zhou, M.K. Estes, Characterization of virus-like particles produced by the expression of rotavirus capsid proteins in insect cells, J. Virol. 68 (1994) 5945–5952.
- [28] C. Sedlik, M. Saron, J. Sarraseca, I. Casal, C. Leclerc, Recombinant parvoviruslike particles as an antigen carrier: a novel nonreplicative exogenous antigen to elicit protective antiviral cytotoxic T cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 94 (1997) 7503–7508.
- [29] S. Maree, S. Durbach, H. Huismans, Intracellular production of African horsesickness virus core-like particles by expression of the two major core proteins, VP3 and VP7, in insect cells, J. Gen. Virol. 79 (1998) 333–337.
- [30] L. Buonaguro, F.M. Buonaguro, M.L. Tornesello, D. Mantas, E. Beth-Giraldo, R. Wagner, S. Michelson, M.C. Prevost, H. Wolf, G. Giraldo, High efficient production of Pr55(gag) virus-like particles expressing multiple HIV-1 epitopes, including a gp120 protein derived from an Ugandan HIV-1 isolate of subtype A, Antiviral Res. 49 (2001) 35–47.
- [31] Y. Ho, P.H. Lin, C.Y. Liu, S.P. Lee, Y.C. Chao, Assembly of human severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-like particles, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 318 (2004) 833–838.
- [32] S. Caballero, S. Guix, E. Ribes, A. Bosch, R.M. Pinto, Structural requirements of astrovirus virus-like particles assembled in insect cells, J. Virol. 78 (2004) 13285–13292.
- [33] Y.C. Chung, J.H. Huang, C.W. Lai, H.C. Sheng, S.R. Shih, M.S. Ho, Y.C. Hu, Expression, purification and characterization of enterovirus-71 virus-like particles, World J. Gastroenterol. 12 (2006) 921–927.
- [34] B. Di Martino, F. Marsilio, P. Roy, Assembly of feline calicivirus-like particle and its immunogenicity, Vet. Microbiol. 120 (2007) 173–178.
- [35] A. Kosukegawa, F. Arisaka, M. Takayama, H. Yajima, A. Kaidow, H. Handa, Purification and characterization of virus-like particles and pentamers produced by the expression of SV40 capsid proteins in insect cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1290 (1996) 37–45.
- [36] L. Liu, C.C. Celma, P. Roy, Rift Valley fever virus structural proteins: expression, characterization and assembly of recombinant proteins, Virol. J. 5 (2008) 82.
- [37] L.J. Liu, T. Suzuki, H. Tsunemitsu, M. Kataoka, N. Ngata, N. Takeda, T. Wakita, T. Miyamura, T.C. Li, Efficient production of type 2 porcine circovirus-like particles by a recombinant baculovirus, Arch. Virol. 153 (2008) 2291–2295.
- [38] P. Tao, M. Luo, D. Zhu, S. Qu, Z. Yang, M. Gao, D. Guo, Z. Pan, Virus-like particle vaccine comprised of the HA, NA, and M1 proteins of an avian isolated H5N1 influenza virus induces protective immunity against homologous and heterologous strains in mice, Viral Immunol. 22 (2009) 273–281.
- [39] Y. Sun, R. Carrion Jr., L. Ye, Z. Wen, Y.T. Ro, K. Brasky, A.E. Ticer, E.E. Schwegler, J.L. Patterson, R.W. Compans, C. Yang, Protection against lethal challenge by Ebola virus-like particles produced in insect cells, Virology 383 (2009) 12–21.
- [40] H.Y. Jeoung, W.H. Lee, W. Jeong, B.H. Shin, H.W. Choi, H.S. Lee, D.J. An, Immunogenicity and safety of the virus-like particle of the porcine encephalomyocarditis virus in pig, Virol. J. 8 (2011) 170.
- [41] V.K. Deo, Y. Tsuji, T. Yasuda, T. Kato, N. Sakamoto, H. Suzuki, E.Y. Park, Expression of an RSV-gag virus-like particle in insect cell lines and silkworm larvae, J. Virol. Methods 177 (2011) 147–152.
- [42] H. Yamaji, M. Nakamura, M. Kuwahara, Y. Takahashi, T. Katsuda, E. Konishi, Efficient production of Japanese encephalitis virus-like particles by recombinant lepidopteran insect cells, Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97 (2013) 1071–1079.
- [43] Q. Liu, K. Yan, Y. Feng, X. Huang, Z. Ku, Y. Cai, F. Liu, J. Shi, Z. Huang, A viruslike particle vaccine for cossackievirus A16 potently elicits neutralizing antibodies that protect mice against lethal challenge, Vaccine 30 (2012) 6642–6648.
- [44] B. Mohana Subramanian, M. Madhanmohan, R. Sriraman, R.V. Chandrasekhar Reddy, S. Yuvaraj, K. Manikumar, S. Rajalakshmi, S.B. Nagendrakumar, S.K. Rana, V.A. Srinivasan, Development of foot-and-mouth disease virus (FMDV) serotype O virus-like-particles (VLPs) vaccine and evaluation of its potency, Antivir Res 96 (2012) 288–295.

- [45] S.W. Metz, J. Gardner, C. Geertsema, T.T. Le, L. Goh, J.M. Vlak, A. Suhrbier, G.P. Pijlman, Effective chikungunya virus-like particle vaccine produced in insect cells, PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 7 (2013) e2124.
- [46] S. Pillay, A. Meyers, A.L. Williamson, E.P. Rybicki, Optimization of chimeric HIV-1 virus-like particle production in a baculovirus-insect cell expression system, Biotechnol. Prog. 25 (2009) 1153–1160.
- [47] A. Bertolotti-Ciarlet, L.J. White, R. Chen, B.V. Prasad, M.K. Estes, Structural requirements for the assembly of Norwalk virus-like particles, J. Virol. 76 (2002) 4044–4055.
- [48] H. Tsukamoto, M.A. Kawano, T. Inoue, T. Enomoto, R.U. Takahashi, N. Yokoyama, N. Yamamoto, T. Imai, K. Kataoka, Y. Yamaguchi, H. Handa, Evidence that SV40 VP1-DNA interactions contribute to the assembly of 40-nm spherical viral particles, Genes Cells 12 (2007) 1267–1279.
- [49] E.A. Hewat, T.F. Booth, P. Roy, Structure of correctly self-assembled bluetongue virus-like particles, J. Struct. Biol. 112 (1994) 183–191.
- [50] T.J. French, J.J. Marshall, P. Roy, Assembly of double-shelled, viruslike particles of bluetongue virus by the simultaneous expression of four structural proteins, J. Virol. 64 (1990) 5695–5700.
- [51] T.J. French, P. Roy, Synthesis of bluetongue virus (BTV) corelike particles by a recombinant baculovirus expressing the two major structural core proteins of BTV, J. Virol. 64 (1990) 1530–1536.
- [52] L.A. Palomares, J.A. Mena, O.T. Ramirez, Simultaneous expression of recombinant proteins in the insect cell-baculovirus system: production of virus-like particles, Methods 56 (2012) 389–395.
- [53] M.J. Adang, L.K. Miller, Molecular cloning of DNA complementary to mRNA of the baculovirus *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus: location and gene products of RNA transcripts found late in infection, J. Virol. 44 (1982) 782–793.
- [54] G.E. Smith, M.J. Fraser, M.D. Summers, Molecular engineering of the *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus genome: deletion mutations within the polyhedrin gene, J. Virol. 46 (1983) 584–593.
- [55] J.M. Vlak, F.A. Klinkenberg, K.J. Zaal, M. Usmany, E.C. Klinge-Roode, J.B. Geervliet, J. Roosien, J.W. van Lent, Functional studies on the p10 gene of *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus using a recombinant expressing a p10-beta-galactosidase fusion gene, J. Gen. Virol. 69 (Pt 4) (1988) 765–776.
- [56] T.J. Wickham, T. Davis, R.R. Granados, M.L. Shuler, H.A. Wood, Screening of insect cell lines for the production of recombinant proteins and infectious virus in the baculovirus expression system, Biotechnol. Prog. 8 (1992) 391– 396.
- [57] P.W. Roelvink, M.M. van Meer, C.A. de Kort, R.D. Possee, B.D. Hammock, J.M. Vlak, Dissimilar expression of *Autographa californica* multiple nucleocapsid nuclear polyhedrosis virus polyhedrin and p10 genes, J. Gen. Virol. 73 (Pt 6) (1992) 1481–1489.
- [58] B.C. Bonning, P.W. Roelvink, J.M. Vlak, R.D. Possee, B.D. Hammock, Superior expression of juvenile hormone esterase and beta-galactosidase from the basic protein promoter of *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus compared to the p10 protein and polyhedrin promoters, J. Gen. Virol. 75 (Pt 7) (1994) 1551–1556.
- [59] M.R. DiFalco, E. Bakopanos, M. Patricelli, G. Chan, L.F. Congote, The influence of various insect cell lines, p10 and polyhedrin promoters in the production of secreted insulin-like growth factor-interleukin-3 chimeras in the baculovirus expression system, J. Biotechnol. 56 (1997) 49–56.
- [60] E. Pajot-Augy, V. Bozon, J.J. Remy, L. Couture, R. Salesse, Critical relationship between glycosylation of recombinant lutropin receptor ectodomain and its secretion from baculovirus-infected insect cells, Eur. J. Biochem. 260 (1999) 635–648.
- [61] R.E. Hawtin, T. Zarkowska, K. Arnold, C.J. Thomas, G.W. Gooday, L.A. King, J.A. Kuzio, R.D. Possee, Liquefaction of Autographa californica nucleopolyhedrovirus-infected insects is dependent on the integrity of virus-encoded chitinase and cathepsin genes, Virology 238 (1997) 243–253.
- [62] J.M. Slack, J. Kuzio, P. Faulkner, Characterization of v-cath, a cathepsin L-like proteinase expressed by the baculovirus *Autographa californica* multiple nuclear polyhedrosis virus, J. Gen. Virol. 76 (Pt 5) (1995) 1091–1098.
  [63] S. Sokolenko, S. George, A. Wagner, A. Tuladhar, J.M. Andrich, M.G. Aucoin, Co-
- [63] S. Sokolenko, S. George, A. Wagner, A. Tuladhar, J.M. Andrich, M.G. Aucoin, Coexpression vs. co-infection using baculovirus expression vectors in insect cell culture: benefits and drawbacks, Biotechnol. Adv. 30 (2012) 766–781.
- [64] H. Chaabihi, M.H. Ogliastro, M. Martin, C. Giraud, G. Devauchelle, M. Cerutti, Competition between baculovirus polyhedrin and p10 gene expression during infection of insect cells, J. Virol. 67 (1993) 2664–2671.
- [65] S. Trowitzsch, C. Bieniossek, Y. Nie, F. Garzoni, I. Berger, New baculovirus expression tools for recombinant protein complex production, J. Struct. Biol. 172 (2010) 45–54.
- [66] S. Trowitzsch, D. Palmberger, D. Fitzgerald, Y. Takagi, I. Berger, MultiBac complexomics, Expert Rev. Proteomics 9 (2012) 363–373.
- [67] C. Bieniossek, T. Imasaki, Y. Takagi, I. Berger, MultiBac: expanding the research toolbox for multiprotein complexes, Trends Biochem. Sci. 37 (2012) 49–57.
- [68] D.J. Fitzgerald, P. Berger, C. Schaffitzel, K. Yamada, T.J. Richmond, I. Berger, Protein complex expression by using multigene baculoviral vectors, Nat. Meth. 3 (2006) 1021–1032.
- [69] I. Berger, D.J. Fitzgerald, T.J. Richmond, Baculovirus expression system for heterologous multiprotein complexes, Nat. Biotechnol. 22 (2004) 1583–1587.
- [70] T. Ohkawa, K. Majima, S. Maeda, A cysteine protease encoded by the baculovirus *Bombyx mori* nuclear polyhedrosis virus, J. Virol. 68 (1994) 6619– 6625.

- [71] R.B. Hitchman, R.D. Possee, E. Siaterli, K.S. Richards, A.J. Clayton, L.E. Bird, R.J. Owens, D.C. Carpentier, F.L. King, J.O. Danquah, K.G. Spink, L.A. King, Improved expression of secreted and membrane-targeted proteins in insect cells, Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem. 56 (2010) 85–93.
- [72] R.B. Hitchman, R.D. Possee, A.T. Crombie, A. Chambers, K. Ho, E. Siaterli, O. Lissina, H. Sternard, R. Novy, K. Loomis, L.E. Bird, R.J. Owens, L.A. King, Genetic modification of a baculovirus vector for increased expression in insect cells, Cell Biol. Toxicol. 26 (2010) 57–68.
- [73] K.S. Lee, Y.H. Je, S.D. Woo, H.D. Sohn, B.R. Jin, Production of a cellulase in silkworm larvae using a recombinant *Bombyx mori* nucleopolyhedrovirus lacking the virus-encoded chitinase and cathepsin genes, Biotechnol. Lett. 28 (2006) 645–650.
- [74] T. Suzuki, T. Kanaya, H. Okazaki, K. Ogawa, A. Usami, H. Watanabe, K. Kadono-Okuda, M. Yamakawa, H. Sato, H. Mori, S. Takahashi, K. Oda, Efficient protein production using a *Bombyx mori* nuclear polyhedrosis virus lacking the cysteine proteinase gene, J. Gen. Virol. 78 (Pt 12) (1997) 3073–3080.
- [75] E. van Anken, I. Braakman, Versatility of the endoplasmic reticulum protein folding factory, Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 40 (2005) 191–228.
- [76] E. Ailor, M.J. Betenbaugh, Modifying secretion and post-translational processing in insect cells, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 10 (1999) 142–145.
- [77] T. Lenhard, H. Reilander, Engineering the folding pathway of insect cells: generation of a stably transformed insect cell line showing improved folding of a recombinant membrane protein, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 238 (1997) 823–830.
- [78] M. Nakajima, T. Kato, S. Kanamasa, E.Y. Park, Molecular chaperone-assisted production of human alpha-1,4-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase in silkworm larvae using recombinant BmNPV bacmids, Mol. Biotechnol. 43 (2009) 67–75.
- [79] L. Zhang, G. Wu, C.G. Tate, A. Lookene, G. Olivecrona, Calreticulin promotes folding/dimerization of human lipoprotein lipase expressed in insect cells (sf21), J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 29344–29351.
- [80] T. Kato, T. Murata, T. Usui, E.Y. Park, Improvement of the production of GFPuv-beta1,3-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase 2 fusion protein using a molecular chaperone-assisted insect-cell-based expression system, Biotechnol. Bioeng, 89 (2005) 424–433.
- [81] C.G. Tate, E. Whiteley, M.J. Betenbaugh, Molecular chaperones stimulate the functional expression of the cocaine-sensitive serotonin transporter, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 17551–17558.
- [82] N. Yokoyama, M. Hirata, K. Ohtsuka, Y. Nishiyama, K. Fujii, M. Fujita, K. Kuzushima, T. Kiyono, T. Tsurumi, Co-expression of human chaperone Hsp70 and Hsdj or Hsp40 co-factor increases solubility of overexpressed target proteins in insect cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1493 (2000) 119–124.
- [83] M.J. Betenbaugh, E. Ailor, E. Whiteley, P. Hinderliter, T.A. Hsu, Chaperone and foldase coexpression in the baculovirus-insect cell expression system, Cytotechnology 20 (1996) 149–159.
- [84] NJ. Colley, E.K. Baker, M.A. Stamnes, C.S. Zuker, The cyclophilin homolog ninaA is required in the secretory pathway, Cell 67 (1991) 255–263.
- [85] N. Tomiya, E. Ailor, S.M. Lawrence, M.J. Betenbaugh, Y.C. Lee, Determination of nucleotides and sugar nucleotides involved in protein glycosylation by high-performance anion-exchange chromatography: sugar nucleotide contents in cultured insect cells and mammalian cells, Anal. Biochem. 293 (2001) 129–137.
- [86] A.M. Toth, C. Geisler, J.J. Aumiller, D.L. Jarvis, Factors affecting recombinant Western equine encephalitis virus glycoprotein production in the baculovirus system, Protein Expr. Purif. 80 (2011) 274–282.
- [87] A.A. El-Kholy, E.R. Abdou, D.I. Rady, M.M. Elseafy, Baculovirus expression and diagnostic utility of the glycoprotein E of bovine herpesvirus-1.1 Egyptian strain "Abu-Hammad", J. Virol. Methods 191 (2013) 33–40.
- [88] M. Rouhbakhsh, R. Halabian, N. Masroori, M. Mohammadi Pour, P. Bahmani, A. Mohammadi Roush, A. Jahanian-Najafabadi, M. Habibi Roudkenar, Isolation, Cloning and High- Level Expression of Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin Lipocalin2 by Baculovirus Expression System through Gateway Technology, Iran J. Basic Med. Sci. 15 (2012) 845–852.
- [89] D.L. Jarvis, Developing baculovirus-insect cell expression systems for humanized recombinant glycoprotein production, Virology 310 (2003) 1–7.
- [90] F. Altmann, E. Staudacher, I.B. Wilson, L. Marz, Insect cells as hosts for the expression of recombinant glycoproteins, Glycoconj. J. 16 (1999) 109–123.
- [91] S. Watanabe, T. Kokuho, H. Takahashi, M. Takahashi, T. Kubota, S. Inumaru, Sialylation of N-glycans on the recombinant proteins expressed by a baculovirus-insect cell system under beta-N-acetylglucosaminidase inhibition, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 5090–5093.
- [92] N. Tomiya, S. Narang, Y.C. Lee, M.J. Betenbaugh, Comparing N-glycan processing in mammalian cell lines to native and engineered lepidopteran insect cell lines, Glycoconj J 21 (2004) 343–360.
- [93] X. Cheng, R.N. Cole, J. Zaia, G.W. Hart, Alternative O-glycosylation/Ophosphorylation of the murine estrogen receptor beta, Biochemistry (Mosc) 39 (2000) 11609–11620.
- [94] X. Cheng, G.W. Hart, Alternative O-glycosylation/O-phosphorylation of serine-16 in murine estrogen receptor beta: post-translational regulation of turnover and transactivation activity, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 10570–10575.
- [95] K. Sugyiama, H. Ahorn, I. Maurer-Fogy, T. Voss, Expression of human interferon-alpha 2 in Sf9 cells. Characterization of O-linked glycosylation and protein heterogeneities, Eur. J. Biochem. 217 (1993) 921–927.
- [96] M. Lopez, D. Tetaert, S. Juliant, M. Gazon, M. Cerutti, A. Verbert, P. Delannoy, O-glycosylation potential of lepidopteran insect cell lines, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1427 (1999) 49–61.

- [97] T. Okada, H. Ihara, R. Ito, M. Nakano, K. Matsumoto, Y. Yamaguchi, N. Taniguchi, Y. Ikeda, N-Glycosylation engineering of lepidopteran insect cells by the introduction of the beta1,4-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase III gene, Glycobiology 20 (2010) 1147–1159.
- [98] D. Palmberger, I.B. Wilson, I. Berger, R. Grabherr, D. Rendic, SweetBac: a new approach for the production of mammalianised glycoproteins in insect cells, PLoS One 7 (2012) e34226.
- [99] E.Y. Yun, T.W. Goo, S.W. Kim, K.H. Choi, J.S. Hwang, S.W. Kang, O.Y. Kwon, Galatosylation and sialylation of mammalian glycoproteins produced by baculovirus-madiated gene expression in insect cells, Biotechnol. Lett. 27 (2005) 1035–1039.
- [100] K.H. Chang, J.M. Yang, H.O. Chun, I.S. Chung, Enhanced activity of recombinant beta-secretase from *Drosophila melanogaster* S2 cells transformed with cDNAs encoding human beta1,4-galactosyltransferase and Galbeta1,4-GlcNAc alpha2,6-sialyltransferase, J. Biotechnol. 116 (2005) 359–367.
- [101] H. Mabashi-Asazuma, X. Shi, C. Geisler, C.W. Kuo, K.H. Khoo, D.L. Jarvis, Impact of a human CMP-sialic acid transporter on recombinant glycoprotein sialylation in glycoengineered insect cells, Glycobiology 23 (2013) 199–210.
- [102] S.A. Chen, T.Y. Lee, Y.Y. Ou, Incorporating significant amino acid pairs to identify O-linked glycosylation sites on transmembrane proteins and nontransmembrane proteins, BMC Bioinformatics 11 (2010) 536.
- [103] W. Dowling, E. Thompson, C. Badger, J.L. Mellquist, A.R. Garrison, J.M. Smith, J. Paragas, R.J. Hogan, C. Schmaljohn, Influences of glycosylation on antigenicity, immunogenicity, and protective efficacy of ebola virus GP DNA vaccines, J. Virol. 81 (2007) 1821–1837.
- [104] C.C. Wang, J.R. Chen, Y.C. Tseng, C.H. Hsu, Y.F. Hung, S.W. Chen, C.M. Chen, K.H. Khoo, T.J. Cheng, Y.S. Cheng, J.T. Jan, C.Y. Wu, C. Ma, C.H. Wong, Glycans on influenza hemagglutinin affect receptor binding and immune response, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106 (2009) 18137–18142.
- [105] B.K. Gavrilov, K. Rogers, I.J. Fernandez-Sainz, L.G. Holinka, M.V. Borca, G.R. Risatti, Effects of glycosylation on antigenicity and immunogenicity of classical swine fever virus envelope proteins, Virology 420 (2011) 135–145.
- [106] A. Fournillier, C. Wychowski, D. Boucreux, T.F. Baumert, J.C. Meunier, D. Jacobs, S. Muguet, E. Depla, G. Inchauspe, Induction of hepatitis C virus E1 envelope protein-specific immune response can be enhanced by mutation of N-glycosylation sites, J. Virol. 75 (2001) 12088–12097.
- [107] F. Helle, G. Vieyres, L. Elkrief, C.I. Popescu, C. Wychowski, V. Descamps, S. Castelain, P. Roingeard, G. Duverlie, J. Dubuisson, Role of N-linked glycans in the functions of hepatitis C virus envelope proteins incorporated into infectious virions, J. Virol. 84 (2010) 11905–11915.
- [108] Y.S. Pan, H.J. Wei, C.C. Chang, C.H. Lin, T.S. Wei, S.C. Wu, D.K. Chang, Construction and characterization of insect cell-derived influenza VLP: cell binding, fusion, and EGFP incorporation, J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2010 (2010) 506363.
- [109] J.G. Choi, M.C. Kim, H.M. Kang, K.I. Kim, K.J. Lee, C.K. Park, J.H. Kwon, J.H. Kim, Y.J. Lee, Protective efficacy of baculovirus-derived influenza virus-like particles bearing H5 HA alone or in combination with M1 in chickens, Vet. Microbiol. 162 (2013) 623–630.
- [110] F.S. Quan, C. Huang, R.W. Compans, S.M. Kang, Virus-like particle vaccine induces protective immunity against homologous and heterologous strains of influenza virus, J. Virol. 81 (2007) 3514–3524.
  [111] A. Roldao, M.C. Mellado, L.R. Castilho, M.J. Carrondo, P.M. Alves, Virus-like
- [111] A. Roldao, M.C. Mellado, L.R. Castilho, M.J. Carrondo, P.M. Alves, Virus-like particles in vaccine development, Expert Rev. Vaccines 9 (2010) 1149–1176.
- [112] F. Krammer, S. Nakowitsch, P. Messner, D. Palmberger, B. Ferko, R. Grabherr, Swine-origin pandemic H1N1 influenza virus-like particles produced in insect cells induce hemagglutination inhibiting antibodies in BALB/c mice, Biotechnol. J. 5 (2010) 17–23.
- [113] Z. Wen, L. Ye, Y. Gao, L. Pan, K. Dong, Z. Bu, R.W. Compans, C. Yang, Immunization by influenza virus-like particles protects aged mice against lethal influenza virus challenge, Antiviral Res. 84 (2009) 215–224.
- [114] X. Gao, W. Wang, Y. Li, S. Zhang, Y. Duan, L. Xing, Z. Zhao, P. Zhang, Z. Li, R. Li, X. Wang, P. Yang, Enhanced Influenza VLP vaccines comprising matrix-2 ectodomain and nucleoprotein epitopes protects mice from lethal challenge, Antiviral Res. 98 (2013) 4–11.
- [115] C.Y. Wu, Y.C. Yeh, J.T. Chan, Y.C. Yang, J.R. Yang, M.T. Liu, H.S. Wu, P.W. Hsiao, A VLP vaccine induces broad-spectrum cross-protective antibody immunity against H5N1 and H1N1 subtypes of influenza A virus, PLoS One 7 (2012) e42363.
- [116] A.C. Steven, J.F. Conway, N. Cheng, N.R. Watts, D.M. Belnap, A. Harris, S.J. Stahl, P.T. Wingfield, Structure, assembly, and antigenicity of hepatitis B virus capsid proteins, Adv. Virus Res. 64 (2005) 125–164.
- [117] J. Dubuisson, C.M. Rice, Hepatitis C virus glycoprotein folding: disulfide bond formation and association with calnexin, J. Virol. 70 (1996) 778–786.
- [118] M. Sapp, C. Fligge, I. Petzak, J.R. Harris, R.E. Streeck, Papillomavirus assembly requires trimerization of the major capsid protein by disulfides between two highly conserved cysteines, J. Virol. 72 (1998) 6186–6189.
- [119] B.C. Bundy, J.R. Swartz, Efficient disulfide bond formation in virus-like particles, J. Biotechnol. 154 (2011) 230–239.
- [120] S. Laurent, J.F. Vautherot, M.F. Madelaine, G. Le Gall, D. Rasschaert, Recombinant rabbit hemorrhagic disease virus capsid protein expressed in baculovirus self-assembles into viruslike particles and induces protection, J. Virol. 68 (1994) 6794–6798.
- [121] M. Sapp, C. Volpers, M. Muller, R.E. Streeck, Organization of the major and minor capsid proteins in human papillomavirus type 33 virus-like particles, J. Gen. Virol. 76 (Pt 9) (1995) 2407–2412.

- [122] K.I. Ishizu, H. Watanabe, S.I. Han, S.N. Kanesashi, M. Hoque, H. Yajima, K. Kataoka, H. Handa, Roles of disulfide linkage and calcium ion-mediated interactions in assembly and disassembly of virus-like particles composed of simian virus 40 VP1 capsid protein, J. Virol. 75 (2001) 61–72.
- [123] Y. Kushima, T. Wakita, M. Hijikata, A disulfide-bonded dimer of the core protein of hepatitis C virus is important for virus-like particle production, J. Virol. 84 (2010) 9118–9127.
- [124] S.H. Choi, S.Y. Kim, K.J. Park, Y.J. Kim, S.B. Hwang, Hepatitis C virus core protein is efficiently released into the culture medium in insect cells, J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 37 (2004) 735–740.
- [125] Y. Tsuchiya, K. Morioka, J. Shirai, K. Yoshida, Structural requirements of signal peptide in insect cell, Nucleic Acids Symp. Ser. (Oxf) (2004) 181–182.
- [126] M. Olczak, T. Olczak, Comparison of different signal peptides for protein secretion in nonlytic insect cell system, Anal. Biochem. 359 (2006) 45–53.
- [127] D.R. O'Reilly, L.K. Miller, V.A. Luckow, Baculovirus Expression Vectors: A Laboratory Manual, Oxford University Press, New York, 1994.
- [128] D.C. Tessier, D.Y. Thomas, H.E. Khouri, F. Laliberte, T. Vernet, Enhanced secretion from insect cells of a foreign protein fused to the honeybee melittin signal peptide, Gene 98 (1991) 177–183.
- [129] D.L. Jarvis, M.D. Summers, A. Garcia Jr., D.A. Bohlmeyer, Influence of different signal peptides and prosequences on expression and secretion of human tissue plasminogen activator in the baculovirus system, J. Biol. Chem. 268 (1993) 16754–16762.
- [130] J.A. Veenstra, Mono- and dibasic proteolytic cleavage sites in insect neuroendocrine peptide precursors, Arch. Insect Biochem. Physiol. 43 (2000) 49–63.
- [131] P.E. Cruz, P.C. Martins, P.M. Alves, C.C. Peixoto, H. Santos, J.L. Moreira, M.J. Carrondo, Proteolytic activity in infected and noninfected insect cells: degradation of HIV-1 Pr55gag particles, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 65 (1999) 133– 143.
- [132] K. Kuroda, M. Veit, H.D. Klenk, Retarded processing of influenza virus hemagglutinin in insect cells, Virology 180 (1991) 159–165.
- [133] L.F. Cassidy, D.S. Lyles, J.S. Abramson, Depression of polymorphonuclear leukocyte functions by purified influenza virus hemagglutinin and sialic acidbinding lectins, J. Immunol. 142 (1989) 4401–4406.
- [134] F.M. Pringle, J. Kalmakoff, V.K. Ward, Analysis of the capsid processing strategy of Thosea asigna virus using baculovirus expression of virus-like particles, J. Gen. Virol. 82 (2001) 259–266.
- [135] A. Schneemann, R. Dasgupta, J.E. Johnson, R.R. Rueckert, Use of recombinant baculoviruses in synthesis of morphologically distinct viruslike particles of flock house virus, a nodavirus, J. Virol. 67 (1993) 2756–2763.
- [136] A. Palucha, A. Loniewska, S. Satheshkumar, A.M. Boguszewska-Chachulska, M. Umashankar, M. Milner, A.L. Haenni, H.S. Savithri, Virus-like particles: models for assembly studies and foreign epitope carriers, Prog. Nucleic Acid Res. Mol. Biol. 80 (2005) 135–168.
- [137] R.A. Bright, D.M. Carter, S. Daniluk, F.R. Toapanta, A. Ahmad, V. Gavrilov, M. Massare, P. Pushko, N. Mytle, T. Rowe, G. Smith, T.M. Ross, Influenza viruslike particles elicit broader immune responses than whole virion inactivated influenza virus or recombinant hemagglutinin, Vaccine 25 (2007) 3871– 3878.
- [138] K. Mahmood, R.A. Bright, N. Mytle, D.M. Carter, C.J. Crevar, J.E. Achenbach, P.M. Heaton, T.M. Tumpey, T.M. Ross, H5N1 VLP vaccine induced protection in ferrets against lethal challenge with highly pathogenic H5N1 influenza viruses, Vaccine 26 (2008) 5393–5399.
- [139] P. Pushko, T.M. Tumpey, F. Bu, J. Knell, R. Robinson, G. Smith, Influenza viruslike particles comprised of the HA, NA, and M1 proteins of H9N2 influenza virus induce protective immune responses in BALB/c mice, Vaccine 23 (2005) 5751–5759.
- [140] F. Krammer, T. Schinko, D. Palmberger, C. Tauer, P. Messner, R. Grabherr, *Trichoplusia ni* cells (High Five) are highly efficient for the production of influenza A virus-like particles: a comparison of two insect cell lines as production platforms for influenza vaccines, Mol. Biotechnol. 45 (2010) 226– 234.
- [141] J.T. Schiller, X. Castellsague, L.L. Villa, A. Hildesheim, An update of prophylactic human papillomavirus L1 virus-like particle vaccine clinical trial results, Vaccine 26 (Suppl. 10) (2008) K53–K61.
- [142] A. Usami, S. Ishiyama, C. Enomoto, H. Okazaki, K. Higuchi, M. Ikeda, T. Yamamoto, M. Sugai, Y. Ishikawa, Y. Hosaka, T. Koyama, Y. Tobita, S. Ebihara, T. Mochizuki, Y. Asano, H. Nagaya, Comparison of recombinant protein expression in a baculovirus system in insect cells (Sf9) and silkworm, J. Biochem. 149 (2011) 219–227.
- [143] Y. Jiang, F. Deng, H. Wang, Z. Hu, An extensive analysis on the global codon usage pattern of baculoviruses, Arch. Virol. 153 (2008) 2273–2282.
- [144] D.B. Levin, B. Whittome, Codon usage in nucleopolyhedroviruses, J. Gen. Virol. 81 (2000) 2313–2325.

- [145] L.A. Palomares, O.T. Ramírez, Challenges for the production of virus-like particles in insect cells: the case of rotavirus-like particles, Biochem. Eng. J. 45 (2009) 158–167.
- [146] H.L. Vieira, C. Estevao, A. Roldao, C.C. Peixoto, M.F. Sousa, P.E. Cruz, M.J. Carrondo, P.M. Alves, Triple layered rotavirus VLP production: kinetics of vector replication, mRNA stability and recombinant protein production, J. Biotechnol. 120 (2005) 72–82.
- [147] A. Roldão, H.L.A. Vieira, P.M. Alves, R. Oliveira, M.J.T. Carrondo, Intracellular dynamics in rotavirus-like particles production: evaluation of multigene and monocistronic infection strategies, Process Biochem. 41 (2006) 2188–2199.
- [148] F. Krammer, T. Schinko, P. Messner, D. Palmberger, B. Ferko, R. Grabherr, Influenza virus-like particles as an antigen-carrier platform for the ESAT-6 epitope of Mycobacterium tuberculosis, J. Virol. Methods 167 (2010) 17–22.
- [149] P. Licari, J.E. Bailey, Modeling the population dynamics of baculovirusinfected insect cells: optimizing infection strategies for enhanced recombinant protein yields, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 39 (1992) 432–441.
- [150] J.A. Mena, O.T. Ramirez, L.A. Palomares, Population kinetics during simultaneous infection of insect cells with two different recombinant baculoviruses for the production of rotavirus-like particles, BMC Biotechnol. 7 (2007) 39.
- [151] Y.C. Hu, W.E. Bentley, Effect of MOI ratio on the composition and yield of chimeric infectious bursal disease virus-like particles by baculovirus coinfection: deterministic predictions and experimental results, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 75 (2001) 104–119.
- [152] Y.C. Hu, W.E. Bentley, A kinetic and statistical-thermodynamic model for baculovirus infection and virus-like particle assembly in suspended insect cells, Chem. Eng. Sci. 55 (2000) 3991–4008.
- [153] W.E. Bentley, B. Kebede, T. Franey, M.-Y. Wang, Segregated characterization of recombinant epoxide hydrolase synthesis via the baculovirus/insect cell expression system, Chem. Eng. Sci. 49 (1994) 4133–4141.
- [154] C.D. De Gooijer, R.H. Koken, F.L. Van Lier, M. Kool, J.M. Vlak, J. Tramper, A structured dynamic model for the baculovirus infection process in insect-cell reactor configurations, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 40 (1992) 537–548.
- [155] J.F. Power, S. Reid, K.M. Radford, P.F. Greenfield, L.K. Nielsen, Modeling and optimization of the baculovirus expression vector system in batch suspension culture, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 44 (1994) 710–719.
- [156] E.I. Tsao, M.R. Mason, M.A. Cacciuttolo, S.H. Bowen, G. Folena-Wasserman, Production of parvovirus B19 vaccine in insect cells co-infected with double baculoviruses, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 49 (1996) 130–138.
- [157] T. Vicente, A. Roldao, C. Peixoto, M.J. Carrondo, P.M. Alves, Large-scale production and purification of VLP-based vaccines, J. Invertebr. Pathol. 107 (Suppl.) (2011) S42–S48.
- [158] J.A. Mena, A.A. Kamen, Insect cell technology is a versatile and robust vaccine manufacturing platform, Expert Rev. Vaccines 10 (2011) 1063–1081.
- [159] A. Prel, G. Le Gall-Recule, V. Jestin, Achievement of avian influenza virus-like particles that could be used as a subunit vaccine against low-pathogenic avian influenza strains in ducks, Avian Pathol. 37 (2008) 513–520.
- [160] Z.R. Zhou, M.L. Wang, F. Deng, T.X. Li, Z.H. Hu, H.L. Wang, Production of CCHF virus-like particle by a baculovirus-insect cell expression system, Virol. Sin. 26 (2011) 338–346.
- [161] A.P. Schmitt, G.P. Leser, D.L. Waning, R.A. Lamb, Requirements for budding of paramyxovirus simian virus 5 virus-like particles, J. Virol. 76 (2002) 3952– 3964.
- [162] R. Morenweiser, Downstream processing of viral vectors and vaccines, Gene Ther. 12 (Suppl. 1) (2005) S103–S110.
- [163] L. Huhti, V. Blazevic, K. Nurminen, T. Koho, V.P. Hytonen, T. Vesikari, A comparison of methods for purification and concentration of norovirus GII-4 capsid virus-like particles, Arch. Virol. 155 (2010) 1855–1858.
- [164] L. Maranga, P. Rueda, A.F. Antonis, C. Vela, J.P. Langeveld, J.I. Casal, M.J. Carrondo, Large scale production and downstream processing of a recombinant porcine parvovirus vaccine, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 59 (2002) 45–50.
- [165] C. Peixoto, M.F. Sousa, A.C. Silva, M.J. Carrondo, P.M. Alves, Downstream processing of triple layered rotavirus like particles, J. Biotechnol. 127 (2007) 452–461.
- [166] T. Koho, T. Mantyla, P. Laurinmaki, L. Huhti, S.J. Butcher, T. Vesikari, M.S. Kulomaa, V.P. Hytonen, Purification of norovirus-like particles (VLPs) by ion exchange chromatography, J. Virol. Methods 181 (2012) 6–11.
- exchange chromatography, J. Virol. Methods 181 (2012) 6–11.
  [167] M. Marek, M.M. van Oers, F.F. Devaraj, J.M. Vlak, O.W. Merten, Engineering of baculovirus vectors for the manufacture of virion-free biopharmaceuticals, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 108 (2011) 1056–1067.
- [168] F. Fernandes, A.P. Teixeira, N. Carinhas, M.J. Carrondo, P.M. Alves, Insect cells as a production platform of complex virus-like particles, Expert Rev. Vaccines 12 (2013) 225–236.